NO. 46212-5-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

GREGORY BONDS,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable John R. Hickman, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CATHERINE E. GLINSKI
Attorney for Appellant

Glinski Law Firm PLLC
P.O. Box 761
Manchester, WA 98353
(360) 876-2736

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court violated appellant's constitutional right of confrontation by admitting testimonial statements of a non-testifying witness.

2. The trial court violated appellant's constitutional rights to due process and to compel witnesses when it precluded the defense from calling a material witness.

Issues pertaining to assignments of error

1. Appellant was convicted of assault, violation of a protection order, felony harassment, and witness tampering, arising out of an incident with his ex-wife. The alleged victim made statements to police at the time of the incident, but she died a month later, and she was never subject to cross examination. Where the statements were made primarily to provide information about past events and there was no ongoing emergency, did admission of the statements at trial violate appellant's constitutional right of confrontation?

2. Did the trial court violate appellant's constitutional rights to due process and to present witnesses in his defense when it prevented a defense witness from testifying after the witness violated the court's ruling excluding witnesses from the courtroom?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural History

On June 3, 2013, the Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney charged appellant Gregory Bonds with first degree burglary, violation of a protection order, and felony harassment arising out of an incident on May 19, 2013. CP 1-3. The State added charges of tampering with a witness based on subsequent intercepted telephone calls from the Pierce County Jail. CP 4-7, 10-14, 144-47. The case proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable John R. Hickman. The jury did not find Bonds guilty of burglary but instead entered a guilty verdict on the lesser offense of fourth degree assault. CP 155-56. It entered guilty verdicts on the remaining counts. CP 157-61.

The court imposed an exceptional sentence based on the aggravating factor in RCW 9.94A.535(2)(c). CP 230, 233. It entered findings of fact and conclusions of law in support of the exceptional sentence. CP 288. Bonds filed this timely appeal. CP 267.

2. Substantive Facts

A no contact order issued as the result of previous conviction for a crime of harassment prohibited Gregory Bonds from contacting his ex-wife, Antoinette Weekly, who was also known as Antoinette Bonds and

Antoinette Jordan. 16RP¹ 489-90, 499; 17RP 742; CP 205-07. Despite that order, Bonds had contact with Antoinette² on May 19, 2013. 17RP 765. Antionette's daughter, Veatrice Jordan, called 911 and reported that Bonds was at the house. 16RP 511. While Veatrice³ was on the phone, Antoinette went upstairs. 16RP 558.

When police arrived, they found Veatrice and two teenage boys downstairs. 17RP 707-08. Veatrice told them there was no one else in the house. 17RP 707-08, 710. When they cleared the upstairs, however, police found Antoinette hiding in a closet, and they brought her downstairs. 17RP 711. Bonds had left before the police arrived, and no one else was present. 15RP 450.

The police took a statement from Veatrice. 17RP 707. They also spoke to the two boys, who identified themselves as Damarcus Tate and Marcus Mayers. 17RP 709. Mayers was actually Treyvion Tucker, Bonds' grandson. 15RP 450; 16RP 502, 638. Both boys had been present during the incident that Veatrice reported to police. 15RP 451; 16RP 515.

¹ The verbatim report of proceedings is contained in 20 volumes, designated as follows: 1RP—8/16/13; 2RP—11/5/13; 3RP—12/16/13; 4RP—12/17/13; 5RP—2/7/14; 6RP—2/11/14; 7RP—2/26/14; 8RP—2/27/14; 9RP—3/3/14; 10RP—3/4/14 (a.m.); 11RP—3/4/14 (p.m.); 12RP—3/5/14; 13RP—3/11/14; 14RP—3/12/14; 15RP—3/13/14; 16RP—3/17/14; 17RP—3/18/14; 18RP—3/19/14; 19RP—3/20/14; 20RP—4/25/14.

² Antoinette Jordan, also known as Antoinette Weekly and Antoinette Bonds, is referred to by her first name for the sake of clarity.

³ Veatrice Jordan is referred to by her first name for the sake of clarity as well.

Police also took a statement from Antoinette. 17RP 719. Antoinette was never able to testify under oath or be cross examined, however, because she died in June 2013. 16RP 499, 630. A primary pre-trial issue was whether her statements to police after the incident would be admitted at trial. 5RP 3.

a. Pretrial hearing on the admissibility of Antoinette's statements

The court considered the parties' written and oral arguments regarding admissibility of Antoinette's statements and determined it needed to hear testimony on the issue. It then held an evidentiary hearing on admissibility. 6RP 21-22; 8RP 90-158.

Tacoma Police Officer John Moses testified that he was dispatched in response to Veatrice's 911 call at 2:38 p.m., and he arrived at the house at 2:42. 8RP 91. He immediately started a security check of the house, going upstairs to search room by room for any suspects. 8RP 92. When he opened the closet door in one of the rooms, he found Antoinette hiding inside. He ordered her out of the closet, but she refused and had to be pulled out by Moses and Officer Brandon Showalter. 8RP 93-95. Moses testified that she appeared terrified, she did not respond to questions, and tears were running down her face. 8RP 94-96.

Moses left Antoinette with Showalter and finished his security check of the house. No other suspects were found. 8RP 96. Moses did not hear any sounds of struggle while he was searching the house. There was no banging, wrestling, crying, or anything else to make him believe anyone was in danger. 8RP 100-01. He never found any kind of threat inside the house and never heard anything he would perceive as a threat. 8RP 109.

After securing the house, Moses participated in a search of the area in attempt to locate Bonds. 8RP 97. It had been reported before he arrived at the house that Bonds had left the scene and was running away. 8RP 111-12. Moses testified that he would not characterize his search of the area as an emergency, although he considered it prudent to locate Bonds. 8RP 111.

Officer Showalter testified that he was one of the first officers to arrive at the house. He contacted Veatrice and the two teenagers, and they gave a brief description of what happened. 8RP 117. Veatrice said that Bonds had forced his way into the house, attacked Antoinette, and fled on foot. 8RP 118. Veatrice told Showalter that there was no one else in the house, and he began a security sweep. 8RP 117. He cleared the downstairs first, and then headed upstairs. 8RP 118-19. When Moses found Antoinette in the closet, they did not know who she was, so

Showalter handcuffed her until they could identify her. 8RP 120. Showalter took her downstairs, Veatrice explained who she was, and Showalter removed the handcuffs. 8RP 120.

Showalter asked Antoinette what happened and if she was okay. She was trembling and appeared terrified, sitting with a defensive posture. 8RP 121. Because she was not responding to Showalter's questions, he gave her some time to collect herself. 8RP 120-21. Showalter noticed some marks on Antoinette's neck and that a finger was bleeding. When she declined medical attention, Showalter asked Veatrice to get her a towel for her finger. 8RP 121.

Showalter waited five or ten minutes for Antoinette to collect herself before he questioned her. 8RP 122, 124. When he started talking to her he knelt by her chair, so that she would feel more comfortable than if he were standing over her. 8RP 124. In response to Showalter's questioning, Antoinette said that Bonds had arrived and forced his way into the house. He was screaming and angry, and he choked and hit her. Veatrice called 911, and Antoinette was able to break free. She ran upstairs and hid in the closet. 8RP 125. Showalter testified that Antoinette kept repeating "he's going to kill me" as she gave her description, and she continued to look frightened. 8RP 125-26. This conversation lasted about ten minutes. 8RP 126.

Like Moses, Showalter had not heard any sounds of struggle when he arrived at and searched the house. 8RP 129. He knew before heading upstairs that Bonds had left. 8RP 130. No one was screaming, banging, or running around, and there was no indication that anyone was seriously injured. 8RP 133. Once Antoinette was downstairs it was clear she was not in need of medical attention. 8RP 134.

After presenting this testimony, the State argued that Antoinette's statements qualified as excited utterances, and they were admissible at trial because they were not testimonial. 8RP 145-47. Defense counsel argued that because the statements were not made to resolve an ongoing emergency but to provide information in the investigation of past actions, the statements were testimonial. Since Antoinette had never been subject to cross examination regarding the statements, admission would violate Bonds' constitutional right of confrontation. 8RP 150-51.

The court found that Antoinette was under the stress of a startling event when she made the statements, and they therefore constituted excited utterances. 8RP 152-54. It also concluded that the statements were not testimonial, reasoning that although there may not have been a threat at the moment of the interview, there was a threat of harm to Antoinette in the minds of the officers who were trying to get more

information about Bonds so they could apprehend him for her protection. 8RP 156-58. The court admitted Antoinette's statements. 8RP 158.

b. The court's denial of the defense motion to call Tucker as a witness

Following the hearing on Antoinette's statements, defense counsel requested permission to add Treyvion Tucker to his witness list. He explained that Tucker had not previously been on the list because when he spoke to police at the time of the incident, he gave the name Marcus Mayers. No one had been able to locate a person with that name. Without counsel's knowledge, Tucker had been in the courtroom during the hearing. At the recess, Tucker approached counsel and explained that he was one of the teenagers in the house, and he had information about what actually happened. 8RP 163.

The State objected that Tucker had heard other witnesses testify at the hearing, after the court had granted a motion excluding witnesses, and he was just trying to help Bonds, who is his grandfather. 8RP 165. The court denied counsel's request to call Tucker as a witness. The court found the timing and content of Tucker's proposed testimony suspicious and ruled that it would be a miscarriage of justice to allow Tucker to testify, based on the late disclosure and violation of the ruling excluding witnesses. 8RP 166-67.

c. Trial testimony

Damarcus Tate testified that at the time of the incident he lived with Antoinette and Veatrice, his grandmother and aunt, and that Bonds lived with them as well. 15RP 447, 449. He and Tucker had been in the living room when he saw Bonds arguing with Antoinette outside. 15RP 451. He saw them pushing and yelling at each other, and he saw Bonds hit Antoinette one time. 15RP 454, 456. Antoinette was angry, and she threw a rock, breaking the front windshield of a car. 15RP 457. Tate saw Veatrice on the phone, and Bonds left. Antoinette came back inside and went upstairs. 15RP 457-59. Police then arrived, searched the house, and spoke to Antoinette and Veatrice. 15RP 458-59.

Veatrice testified that she was cooking dinner, Antoinette was talking with her, and Tate and Tucker were watching television when Bonds walked into the house through the open sliding glass door. 16RP 512-15. Bonds and Antoinette started fighting, and she slapped him. He then hit her and dragged her outside. 16RP 516-17. At that point, Veatrice called 911. 16RP 517. Veatrice testified that as Bonds hit Antoinette, a car window broke, but she did not see how it happened. 16RP 520-22. Bonds then walked out of the yard. Veatrice testified that Bonds then got into a car, although she had never mentioned a car in any of her previous statements. 16RP 524, 551, 586. Veatrice testified that

when Antoinette came in the house she was upset and said that Bonds was going to kill her. 16RP 526. Antoinette must have gone upstairs at that point, but Veatrice said did not see her. 16RP 526, 558, 592, 594.

Officers Moses and Showalter testified that they responded to Veatrice's 911 call, and when they cleared the house, they found Antoinette in an upstairs closet. 17RP 687, 693, 705, 711. Showalter testified about his interview with Antoinette and the description she gave of what happened. 17RP 718-21.

The State also presented recordings of telephone calls between Bonds and his family members. Exhibits 25A, 25C⁴. In these calls Bonds discussed the burglary charge and statements Antoinette and Veatrice made or should make regarding forced entry. Id.

Bonds testified in his defense that he had been living with Antoinette for three months before the alleged incident. His clothing, belongings, and car were at the house. 17RP 756-57. He testified that Antoinette had smashed the back window of his car as well as the windshield of her car that day. 17RP 759-60.

Bonds explained that Antoinette was angry because he had gone to a casino the night before. When he was about to leave again that

⁴ The first jury trial had ended in a mistrial, because the State failed to completely redact references to a third strike from the jail phone call recordings as ordered by the court. 10RP 214-15; 12RP 363-65, 368, 382-83. The recordings admitted in the second trial were properly redacted.

afternoon, she broke down and started crying. 17RP 762-65. He saw her pick up a rock and throw it at his car. Then she picked up another rock and threw it at her car. When he tried to grab the rock from her, he fell forward and grabbed her instead. 17RP 771. Antoinette went berserk, and Bonds yelled for Veatrice to come help him with her. He let Antoinette go, but she reached for another rock, so he grabbed her again. By that time, Bonds believed the police were already on the way, so he let go of Antoinette and walked away. 17RP 771-72. Bonds testified that there was no confrontation in the house and he did not hit Antoinette. 17RP 772.

After he was arrested, Bonds learned that he was charged with burglary, and he believed someone had reported that he broke into the house. 17RP 795. He talked to his family members about wanting someone to talk to Antoinette about that charge so that the truth would come out. He was not trying to get anyone to change their testimony, just tell the truth. 17RP 773-74, 790-91.

C. ARGUMENT

1. ADMISSION OF ANTOINETTE JORDAN'S TESTIMONIAL STATEMENTS TO OFFICER SHOWALTER VIOLATED BONDS' RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that “in all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right ... to be confronted with the witnesses against him.” U.S. Const. amend. VI; see also Wash. Const. art. I, § 22. Confrontation is a fundamental bedrock protection in a criminal case and requires evidence to be tested by the adversarial process. Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 42, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004). The Confrontation Clause “commands, not that evidence be reliable, but that reliability be assessed in a particular manner: by testing in the crucible of cross examination.” Crawford, 541 U.S. at 61. Thus, the State may offer out-of-court testimonial statements at trial only if the declarant is unavailable as a witness and the defendant has had the prior opportunity to cross examine the declarant. Id. at 59. Admission does not depend on whether the statements fall within a hearsay exception. The only method for satisfying the Confrontation Clause is cross examination. Id. at 59.

An appellate court reviews a confrontation clause challenge de novo. State v. Koslowski, 166 Wn.2d 409, 417, 209 P.3d 479 (2009). The confrontation clause applies to “witnesses” against the accused—those who “bear testimony.” Koslowski, 166 Wn.2d at 417 (quoting Crawford, 541 U.S. at 51). While the confrontation clause bars admission a testimonial statements by a witness who did not appear at trial and was not

subject to cross examination, out of court statements that are nontestimonial are not covered by the confrontation clause. Davis v. Washington, 547 U.S. 813, 821, 126 S.Ct. 2266, 165 L.Ed.2d 224 (2006). Thus, where out-of-court statements of a non-testifying witness have been admitted at trial, the determination on appeal is whether those statements were testimonial.

Statements taken by police officers during interrogations are usually, but not always testimonial. The Supreme Court has explained:

Statements are nontestimonial when made in the course of police interrogation under circumstances objectively indicating that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to enable police assistance to meet an ongoing emergency. They are testimonial when the circumstances objectively indicate that there is no such ongoing emergency, and that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to establish or prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution.

Davis, 547 U.S. at 822. Four factors guide the determination of whether the primary purpose of a police interrogation was to develop testimony:

- (1) Was the speaker speaking about current events as they were actually occurring, requiring police assistance, or was he or she describing past events? ...
- (2) Would a “reasonable listener” conclude that the speaker was facing an ongoing emergency that required help? ...
- (3) What was the nature of what was asked and answered? Do the questions and answers show, when viewed objectively, that the elicited statements were necessary to resolve the present emergency or do they show, instead, what had happened in the past? ...
- (4) What was the level of formality of the interrogation?

Koslowski, 166 Wn.2d at 419 (citing Davis, 547 U.S. at 827).

In Davis, the Supreme Court decided two cases, Davis and Hammon, both involving domestic disputes in which the victims called 911. The statements at issue in Davis were made during the course of a frantic 911 call seeking protection from the defendant, while the declarant was alone and unprotected by the police. She was in apparent immediate danger and seeking aid, not relating past events. The court held that her statements were nontestimonial. Davis, 547 U.S. at 831-32.

By contrast, in Hammon, the statements at issue were made by the defendant's wife after police arrived at the house, separated husband and wife, and interviewed the wife. When police arrived, the wife said everything was fine, and police heard and saw nothing to indicate an ongoing emergency. Police questioned the wife, not to figure out what was happening, but to determine what had happened. And while the interrogation did not occur at the police station in an interview room, the setting was formal enough, with police separating husband and wife, and the officer receiving answers for use in his investigation, to make the statements testimonial. Davis, 547 U.S. 828-29.

The Washington Supreme Court applied these factors in Koslowski. There, the defendant was charged with a home invasion robbery, but the victim, Alvarez, died before trial, and the trial court

admitted her statements to police. Koslowski, 166 Wn.2d at 412. Officers had responded to a 911 call, arriving about two minutes after the call was made. They found Alvarez still on the phone with 911, extremely emotional and very upset. She started telling the officers what was going on, showing them wire ties which had been used to bind her hands. The officers asked more questions about what happened, and she responded. The officers were trying to gather as much information as possible to relay to other officers who were searching for the suspects. Id. at 414. Alvarez described being accosted at gunpoint outside her home, pushed inside, and tied up while the men robbed her. After she heard them leave she was able to free her hands and call 911. Id. at 415.

Reviewing these circumstances, the Court concluded that Alvarez's statements were testimonial. Id. at 421. First, it noted that Alvarez was describing events that already occurred. The record showed that the men had completed the robbery and left, and there was no indication that she was still in danger from them. Id. at 422. Second, the court considered whether a reasonable listener would believe Alvarez was facing an ongoing emergency. It noted that her statements were made after the police arrived. While she was clearly frightened, a reasonable listener would conclude that the danger had passed. Id. at 423.

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