COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

GREGORY LEE BONDS, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable John R Hickman

No. 13-1-02223-2

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By JAMES SCHACHT Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 17298

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

C. ARGUMENT.

1. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY ADMITTING THE VICTIM'S NON-TESTIMONIAL STATEMENTS WHERE THE STATEMENTS WERE GIVEN IN AN INFORMAL ON-SCENE INTERVIEW FOR THE PURPOSE OF RESPONDING TO AN ON-GOING EMERGENCY.

The Sixth Amendment provides that in "all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right ... to be confronted with the witnesses against him." In 2004 the United States Supreme Court began a reworking of its confrontation jurisprudence. It held that the confrontation clause "bars admission of testimonial statements of a witness who did not appear at trial unless he was unavailable to testify, and the defendant had had a prior opportunity for cross-examination." *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 53-54, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004).

The *Crawford* court provided limited guidance concerning the meaning of "testimonial statements" in light of modern law enforcement practices and procedure. Development of confrontation clause doctrine post-*Crawford* has provided that guidance. In *Davis v. Washington*, 547 U.S. 813, 126 S. Ct. 2266, 165 L. Ed. 2d 224 (2006), the court clarified "which police interrogations produce testimony" when it held:

Statements are nontestimonial when made in the course of police interrogation under circumstances objectively indicating that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to enable police assistance to meet an ongoing emergency. They are testimonial when the circumstances objectively indicate that there is no such ongoing emergency, and that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to establish or prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution.

Id. at 823.

Davis arose from two separate domestic violence incidents in two states. In the first case, a Washington case, a 911 call was held to be non-testimonial because "any reasonable listener would recognize that [the domestic violence victim] was facing an ongoing emergency. Although one might call 911 to provide a narrative report of a crime absent any imminent danger, [the victim's] call was plainly a call for help against bona fide physical threat." *Id.* at 827.

In the second case, an Indiana case, the facts were drawn from a patrol officer's testimony about oral and written statements from a domestic violence victim. The *Davis* court held that because there "was no emergency in progress," and because the victim's statements given "under official interrogation are an obvious substitute for live testimony, because they do precisely what a witness does on direct examination; they are inherently testimonial." *Id.* 829-30.

The *Davis* primary purpose test was further refined and applied in a slightly different context in *Michigan v. Bryant*, 562 U.S. 344, 131 S. Ct. 1143, 179 L. Ed. 2d 93 (2011). There the court affirmed the trial court's admission of excited utterances from a gunshot victim who later died from his injuries and thus could not testify at trial. The court observed that, "Implicit in Davis is the idea that because the prospect of fabrication in statements given for the primary purpose of resolving that emergency is presumably significantly diminished, the Confrontation Clause does not require such statements to be subject to the crucible of cross-examination." *Id.* at 1157. The court then held:

As we suggested in **Davis**, when a court must determine whether the Confrontation Clause bars the admission of a statement at trial, it should determine the "primary purpose of the interrogation" by objectively evaluating the statements and actions of the parties to the encounter, in light of the circumstances in which the interrogation occurs. The existence of an emergency or the parties' perception that an emergency is ongoing is among the most important circumstances that courts must take into account in determining whether an interrogation is testimonial because statements made to assist police in addressing an ongoing emergency presumably lack the testimonial purpose that would subject them to the requirement of confrontation. As the context of this case brings into sharp relief, the existence and duration of an emergency depend on the type and scope of danger posed to the victim, the police, and the public.

Id. at 1162 (footnote omitted).

In the Indiana case in *Davis* a significant fact that led the court to view the emergency as having passed was that the police were interviewing both the victim and the perpetrator at the same time in the same location. It was more than reasonable for the court to view the "emergency" as past since the police had control over both sides of the alleged domestic violence assault. *Davis v. Washington*, 547 U.S. at 829-30.

The same could not be said in *Bryant*. In *Bryant* the police found the victim mortally wounded from a gunshot wound at a gas station and learned that the shooting had taken place at a different location and that the gunman was at large. The court stated that courts should use "a combined inquiry that accounts for both the declarant and the interrogator" and that takes into account "the existence and duration of an emergency [depending] on the type and scope of danger posed to the victim, the police, and the public." *Michigan v. Bryant*, 131 S. Ct. at 1161-62.

Because the police questioning took place under informal circumstances at the scene and because "there was an ongoing emergency here where an armed shooter, whose motive for and location after the shooting were unknown, had mortally wounded Covington within a few blocks and a few minutes of the location where the police found Covington" the victim's statements were held to be non-testimonial. *Id.* at 1164.

In this case, the emergency was every bit as on-going as the emergency in *Bryant*. The police arrived at the victim's residence within minutes of a 911 call about an aggravated assault and a possible weapon. 4 RP 90-97 and 109-110. The perpetrator had fled, and as in *Bryant*, the police were engaged in an active area search. 4 RP 111. The police cleared the residence with weapons drawn and made contact with victim Antoinette Jordan. 4 RP 92-95. They found Ms. Jordan hiding in a closet, resistant to coming out and looking "just kind of frozen as if she was just scared to death, literally just scared to death." 4 RP 93-96, 106. She was interviewed by one of the patrol officers, Officer Showalter, while other officers were engaged in the area search for the defendant. 4 RP 96-97. Officer Moses and the assisting officers considered the emergency to be on-going because "it would be prudent for me to find the suspect involved before he could harm anybody else or return to the scene." 4 RP 111.

In Washington the standard of review for alleged confrontation violations is *de novo*. *State v. Reed*, 168 Wn. App. 553, 562, 278 P.3d 203 (2012) foot note 2, citing *State v. Koslowski*, 166 Wn.2d 409, 417, 209 P.3d 479 (2009). *De novo* review should lead this court to uphold the trial court's ruling because the circumstances in this case are not only closely analogous to *Bryant*, but are also quite similar to the leading post-

Davis Washington case as well. **State v. Ohlson**, 162 Wn.2d 1, 168 P.3d 1273 (2007).

The Washington Supreme Court in *Ohlson* upheld admission of statements from a vehicular assault victim. *Ohlson*, 162 Wn.2d 1. The Court in *Ohlson* identified four criteria to assist in determining whether statements made to law enforcement are testimonial: "(1) the timing relative to the events discussed, (2) the threat of harm posed by the situation, (3) the need for information to resolve a present emergency, and (4) the formality of the interrogation." *Id.* at 13. These criteria compliment *Bryant* which focused on the informality of the interview and the at-large-gunman emergency. The *Ohlson* criteria are also objective, as was required by *Davis*. They focus attention on a "combined inquiry" of the circumstances of the declarant and the interrogator. *Davis v. Washington*, 126 S. Ct. at 2273-74, *Michigan v. Bryant*, 131 S. Ct. at 1161-62.

Application of the *Ohlson* criteria to this case reinforces the correctness of the trial court's ruling that Antoinette Jordan's statements were non-testimonial. Trial testimony showed that the timing of her interview relative to the actual incident was measured in a small number of minutes. 12 RP 689-90. The perpetrator was at large. 12 RP 697. As the interview was being conducted the victim was afraid for her life: "She

kept repeating that he was – he was -- he's going to kill me, he's going to kill me." 12 RP 720. The interview was anything but formal since it was conducted at the scene in the house without a recording device. 12 RP 719, 791. The officers used Ms. Jordan's information together with information from Veatrice Jordan to immediately search for the defendant. 12 RP 721-22. Unfortunately they were not successful. Under these facts the interview was directly and primarily related to the on-going emergency.

Statements are not testimonial where an "objective evaluation of the 'circumstances in which the encounter occurs and the statements and actions of the parties' demonstrates that the primary purpose of the investigation was to meet an ongoing emergency." *State v. Reed*, 168 Wn. App. 553, 565, 278 P.3d 203 (2012) quoting *Michigan v. Bryant*, 1131 S. Ct. at 1156. In *Reed* the court upheld admission of statements from two 911 calls and statements to a patrol officer who had arrived at the scene in response to those calls. *Id.* at 569-70. Concerning the statements to the patrol officer, the court reasoned that, "because an objective evaluation of the circumstances makes clear that Ta's initial, spontaneous statements were primarily intended to secure police assistance, the trial court did not err by determining that these statements did not implicate the confrontation clause." *Id.* at 570.

If anything this case involves an even better example of nontestimonial statements. There can be little doubt that from the patrol officers' perspective, the interview of Antoinette Jordan was necessary to resolve an ongoing emergency. An aggravated assault suspect was at large and the officers needed information about what had happened, what he was doing, and where he might have gone. Their actions were entirely directed at taking action not building a court case.

There can also be little doubt that Antionette Jordan's purpose in speaking to the officers was likewise related to the ongoing emergency. "I looked at her face, and she was kind of staring off into space, if you will. Her eyes were really large. She was shaking. She had the fear of God in her face. She had tears coming down her -- from her tear ducts. Her face was wet and -- but she wasn't making any noises. She wasn't making any sounds. She was just kind of frozen as if she was just scared to death, literally just scared to death." 4 RP 94. Antoinette Jordan was primarily concerned with self preservation: "Then she kept repeating to me at the time that, he's going to kill me, he's going to kill me, he's going to kill me, he's going to kill me she kept repeating that." 4 RP 126. She was too in shock to recognize the police at first but when she had gained control of herself, she spoke to them as rescuers. 4 RP 94. Under the objective, combined inquiry approach established by *Davis*, *Byrant*, and *Ohlson*, the purpose

of the interview of Antoinette Jordan had everything to do with the ongoing emergency, little to do with court proceedings, and was therefore properly admitted as a non-testimonial statement.

2. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY EXCLUDING A DEFENSE WITNESS WHERE THE WITNESS VIOLATED A COURT ORDER AND THE DEFENDANT MADE AN INSUFFICIENT SHOWING OF MATERIALITY AND ADMISSIBILITY.

The Sixth Amendment provides that all criminal defendants shall have the right "to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor." This amendment has been held to protect the right of the defendant "to offer the testimony of witnesses, and to compel their attendance, if necessary, [and] is in plain terms the right to present a defense, the right to present the defendant's version of the facts as well as the prosecution's to the jury so it may decide where the truth lies." *Washington v. Texas*, 388 U.S. 14, 19, 87 S. Ct. 1920, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1019 (1967).

The right to present a defense is applicable to the states through the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. *Id.* at 19. However it is not an absolute right to present any and all witnesses or evidence. *United*States v. Valenzuela-Bernal, 458 U.S. 858, 102 S. Ct. 3440, 73 L. Ed. 2d

1193 (1982). Where a defendant alleges a violation of the right to present

a defense, it is incumbent on the defendant to "make some plausible showing" of how the witness' testimony "would have been material and favorable to his defense, in ways not merely cumulative to the testimony of available witnesses." *Id.* at 867, 873.

The mere presence of a witness with personal knowledge at the scene of a criminal offense is, by itself an insufficient showing of materiality. State v. Smith, 101 Wn.2d 36, 677 P.2d 100 (1984). In Smith the Washington Supreme Court applied the materiality requirement from Washington v. Texas to a marihuana distribution case. At trial the defendant in **Smith** sought to compel disclosure of the identity of a confidential drug informant. He claimed that the informant would confirm that the defendant had sold marihuana only because the informant had "convinced him that [an undercover officer] was her dying husband who needed marijuana to ease his pain." Id. at 40. The court held that the defendant had made an insufficient showing of materiality because "the informant was not a material witness" and "the facts alleged by the petitioner, even if corroborated entirely by the informant, are inadequate as a matter of law" to support the defendant's entrapment defense. Id. at 42.

Washington courts have consistently required a showing of materiality in cases alleging violation of the right to present a defense. In

State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 857, 83 P.3d 970 (2004), an aggravated murder case, the testimony at issue was other suspect evidence. The court stated, "In keeping with the right to establish a defense and its attendant limits, 'a criminal defendant has no constitutional right to have irrelevant evidence admitted in his or her defense." Id. at 857, quoting State v. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 15, 659 P.2d 514 (1983). Likewise, in an assault and robbery case, inadmissible propensity and mental health evidence was held to have been properly excluded because a "defendant's right is subject to reasonable restrictions and must yield to 'established rules of procedure and evidence designed to assure both fairness and reliability in the ascertainment of guilt and innocence." State v. Donald, 178 Wn. App. 250, 263-64, 316 P.3d 1081 (2013), citing United States v. Scheffer, 523 U.S. 303, 308, 118 S. Ct. 1261, 140 L. Ed. 2d 413 (1998) and quoting State v. Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 825, 975 P.2d 967 (1999).

In this case the defendant has shown only that his proffered witness was present at the scene. He did not provide the trial court with a detailed offer of proof to show what crucial facts his witness had personal knowledge of. He would have this court assume that the witness could testify about facts that would have supported his defense. This claim should be evaluated in light of all of the evidence, including the defendant's own testimony. Like the defendant in *Smith* the defendant in

this case admitted most of the facts supporting conviction of the crimes that he was found guilty of. He has not attempted to show and likely could not show materiality because the facts that his witness could have testified about were not in dispute.

The standard of review in a case such as this that arises from the admission or refusal of evidence is abuse of discretion. "Nonetheless, the admission or refusal of evidence lies largely within the sound discretion of the trial court; its decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion." *State v. Rehak*, 67 Wn. App. 157, 162, 834 P.2d 651 (1992) citing *State v. Stubsjoen*, 48 Wn. App. 139, 147, 738 P.2d 306, *review denied*, 108 Wn.2d 1033 (1987). "An abuse of discretion exists only where no reasonable person would take the position adopted by the trial court." *Id.* citing *State v. Huelett*, 92 Wn.2d 967, 969, 603 P.2d 1258 (1979).

The trial court's exercise of discretion in this case was reasonable. Although the request to add Treyvion Tucker as a witness was not revisited after the suppression hearing, Tucker's role in the case did come up during the trial. During cross examination of the defendant, the defendant was confronted with a jail phone call involving Treyvion Tucker. After excerpts from that jail call were played for the defendant,

the defendant admitted encouraging Tucker to contact the prosecution's witnesses. 12 RP 792-94. The defendant testified:

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